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UNITED STATESDISTRICT COURT
DISTRICT OF CONNECTICUT

IONIE SCOTT?! on behalf of herself and
those similarly situated, No. 3:19¢v-527 (SRU)
Plaintiffs,

V.

GRISWOLD HOME CARE¢et al.,
Defendant.

ORDER
In substance, this case is about a home heafdworker suing her employers on behalf
of herself and those similarly situated to recover unpaid overtime wages andameadvage
deductions pursuant to both the Fair Labor Standard§'BRIcEA”) 2 andaralogousstatelaw
provisions® At this stage, though, the case is entirely about whether the instant dispute should
be submitted to arbitration. The defendants have made a motion to dismiss, or, in thevalterna

to stay and compel arbitration. For the following reasonsntbébnis denied.

l. Standards of Review

A. Motion to Compel Arbitration

Pursuantd the Federal Arbitration Act[a] party aggrieved by the alleged failure,
neglect, or refusal of another to arbitrate under a written agreemenbpitoatéeon may petition”
the appropriate district court “for an order directing that such arbitrati@e@dan the manner

provided for in such agreement.” 9 U.S.C. 84 determine whethesuch an order should

L Unfortunately, Scott has passed away since filing this caeeNotice of Suggestion of Death, Doc. No. 48.
Scott’s lawyer has represented that a motion for substitution, pursuant to Bad. R.25(a), is forthcoming, and |
have granted an extension of time for that purp&eeOrder, Doc. No. 56.

2 See29 U.S.C. 88 203t seq.

3 SeeConn. Gen. Stat. §§ &8, et seq.
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issue—in other words, “to determine arbitrability”a-district court “applies a standard similar to
that applicable for a motion for summary judgré Bensadoun v. JobRiat, 316 F.3d 171, 175
(2d Cir. 2003)see also Deleon v. Dollar Tree Stores, 12017 WL 396535, at *2 (D. Conn.

Jan. 30, 2017). A district court should denyation to compel arbitration fthere isan issue of
factas to tle making of the agreement for arbitratiolBeénsadoun316 F.3d at 175. The party
seeking to compel arbitration “must make a prima facie initial showing that an agtdeme
arbitrate existed before the burden shifts to the party opposing arbitration to put the making of

that agreemeriin issue.” Hines v. Overstock.com, In@80 F. App’x 22, 24 (2d Cir. 2010).

B. Motion to Dismiss for Failure to State a Claim Upon Which Relief May Be Granted

A motion to dismiss for failure to state a claim pursuant to Rule 12(b)(6) is designed
“merely to assess the legal feasibility of a complaint, not to assay the weehdefce which
might be offered in support thereofRyder Energy Distribution Corp. Merrill Lynch
Commodities, In¢.748 F.2d 774, 779 (2d Cir. 1984) (quoti@gisler v. Petrocelli616 F.2d
636, 639 (2d Cir. 1980)).

When deciding a motion to dismiss pursuant to Rule 12(b)(6), the court must accept the
material facts alleged in themplaint as true, draw all reasonable inferences in favor of the
plaintiffs, and decide whether it is plausible that plaintiffs have a valid clainelief. Ashcroft
v. Igbal 556 U.S. 662, 678—79 (200®ell Atl. Corp. v. Twombly550 U.S. 544, 555-56 (2007);
Leeds v. Meltz85 F.3d 51, 53 (2d Cir. 1996).

UnderTwombly “[flactual allegations must be enough to raise a right to relief above the
speculative level” and assert a cause of action with enough heft to show entitienediet and
“enough facts to state a claim to relief that is plausible on its face.” 550 B5b,&8705ee

also Igbal 556 U.S. at 679 (“While legal conclusions can provide the framework of a complaint,



they must be supported by factual allegations.”). The plausibility standard set fovtbrmbly
andlgbal obligates the plaintiff to “provide the grounds of his entitlement to relief” through
more than “labels and conclusions, and a formulaic recitation of the elements séatau
action.” Twombly 550 U.S. at 555 (inteal quotation marks omitted). Plausibility at the
pleading stage is nonetheless distinct from probability, and “a well-pleaded compdgint
proceed even if it strikes a savvy judge that actual proof of [the claims] isbafge, and . . .

recovery is very remote and unlikelyld. at 556 (internal quotation marks omitted).

. Background

A. Factual Background

1. The Parties

The plaintiff is lonie Scott (“Scott”), a home health aide. She seeks to repaedans
of similarly situated individuals. Scott fildger complaint against four defendan¢&) Griswold
Home Care, (2) FMCH, Inc. (“FMCH"), (3) Maria P. Malafronte, in her individaglacity, and
(4) Cathy Howard, in her individual capacitgeeCompl., Doc. No. 1.

Scott dismissed her claims againstlifronte on October 24, 201$eeNotice, Doc.
No. 37. Regarding Griswold Home Care, Scott plainly intended ttheudeanchisr Griswold
Home Care, whicloperates through over one hundred franchisees throughout the United States
(of which FMCH is one) SeeCompl., Doc. No. 1, at 1 12—27Scottattempted to serve

Griswold Home Care, but she served the wrong party. Instead of serving Griswold Home

4 Scott explains that Griswold Home Care is a home care franchise organizatimpénates through” over 150
franchisees. Compl., Doc. No. 1, at 1 12. In that capacity, Scott sought to swelGHome Care as “an
employer and/or joint employer of” Scott's who “exercised control over” Scottiamlddy situated employees and
“promulgakd the standards” by which they “could be hired and retainedat 71 1314, 16. Griswold Home
Care “recruited employees” through its website to “perform home health sehiicegh its franchises.id. at

15. Griswold Home Care promoted franchise opportunities and trained franchigbtsis “actually supervise[d]”
Scott and similarly situated employedd. at 11 17, 19. The fees generated by Scott's work were “integral” to
Griswold Home Care’s busineskl. at  20.



Care—the large franchr—Scott served Berks Care, Inc., a franchisee in Pennsylvania doing
business a&riswold Home Care (“Berks”)SeeAff. of Service, Doc. No. 14; Berks’s Mot. to
Dismiss, Doc. No. 38. Realizing her error, Scott voluntarily dismissed Berks froragbeSee
Notice, Doc. No. 40. The upshot is that Griswold Home Caine-franchisor—has never been
served and is not currently a party to this action, even though it is a named defendant.

Only two defendants remain: FMCH and Cathy Howard (the “Defendar&@MCH is
an entity thatat all relevant time3gdid business in Connecticut undee tfictitiousname
Griswold Home CareSeeDecl. of C. Howard, Ex. 2 to Defs.” Mem. of Law (“C. Howard’s 1st
Decl.”), Doc. No. 15-2at | 3;Decl. of R. Wheeler, Ex. 3 to Pl.’s Opp’'n (“Wheeler Decl.”), Doc.
No. 21-1, at § 2Cathy Howad cofounded FMCH $cott alleges thdter initials are the “CH”
in “FMCH?”) and maintained control over it during the period relevant to this Compbéd.
Compl., Doc. No. 1, at 11 29-34; C. Howard’s 1st Decl., Doc. No. 15-2; Decl. of C. Howard, Ex.
A to Defs.” Supp. Mot. to Dismiss, Doc. No. 49 (“C. Howard’s 2d Decl.”), at 1 3 (“FMCH, Inc.
is owned by me.”).

There is another party relevant to this acti@KJH,LLC (“CKJH”). CKJH is another
entity that, at all relevant timedid business ir€onnecticuunder tke fictitiousnameGriswold
Home Care SeelicenselLookup, Ex. 4 to Pl.’s Opp’n, Doc. No. 21-1, at 14-lisense
Lookup, SATE oF CONN., https://www.elicense.ct.gov/Lookup/LicenseLookup.aspx (last visited
May 26, 2020) (enter eith€2KJH for “Business Name” or HCA.0001166r “License

Number”)® Jessica Howard-who is Cathy Howard’s daughteiis-a partial owner and a

5 Apparently, on November 1, 2019, FMCH changed its “doing business as” name from “GriswaddCGare’to
“Griswold Special Care."Seelicense LookupSTATE OF CONN.,
https://www.elicense.ct.gov/Lookup/LicenseLookup.a8pst visited May26, 2020) (enter either FMCH for
“Business Name” or HCA.0000169 for “License Number”).

5 There is a third entity-Bluebird LLG—that does business in Connecticut under the fictitious name “Griswold
Home Care,” but that entity is irrelevant to this case.
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principal of CKJH. Although Scott does not allege it, it seems likely thatis the “JH” in
“CKJH.”) SeeC. Howard’s 2d Decl., Doc. No. 49, at T 2; Wheeler Decl., Doc. No. 21-1, at  4;
Bus. Inquiry, Ex. 6 to Pl.’s Opp’n, Doc. No. 21-1; Bus. Inquirga oF CONN.,
https:/ivww.concord-sots.ct.gov/CONCORD/online?sn=Publicinquiry&eid=fa€I visited

May 26, 2020) (enter “CKJH” into “Search by Name” field)essica Howardlsoworks as an
employee at FMCHSeeDecl. of J. Howard, Ex. A to Defs.” Reply (“J. Howddécl.”), Doc.

No. 27-1, afff 2.

CKJH and FMCH are similar in several ways. Cathy Howard and Jessica Haoward
involved with both. Botloperate under the fictitious name Griswold Home Care. Both
concernthework of home health aide®ut there are (at leastyo crucially important
differences betweeGKJH and FMCH First, FMCH is a party to this action, and CKJH is not.
SecondCKJH operates as a referral servitterefers home health aides to clientsd dahe
clients pay the aidedn contrastFMCH isnot a referral serviceit pays its home health aides
directly. SeeC. Howard’s 2d Decl., Doc. No. 49, at { 2 (“During some of the times relevant to
this case, lonie Scott received referrals for homecare services from Gi€J),id. at 16 (“. ..

FMCH, Inc. is not a referral service . . ..").

2. Scott’s Claims on the Merits

Scott alleges that she began working for the Defendants around February 2017 and
continued until about October 2018eeCompl., Doc. No. 1, at § 4. Scott alleges that the
Defendants employed hegeeid. at 1 40. Scott explains that the Defendants provide home
health care serviego elderly and infirm individuals in Connecticut through home health care
aides. Sedd. at § 4243. The Defendants determine their aides’ specific work assignments and

hours of operation and then assign them to work fixed schedules based on their clients’ needs.



Seed. at 11 4445. Further, the Defendants require aides to obtain the Defendants’ approval for
schedule alterations and to lodge complaints about cli@#ad. at 71 4648. While Scott

worked for the Defetants, she “was not entitled to earn any incentive, bonus, commission or
profit share other than the compensation paid to her by Defendants as wages for Hads wor

Id. at § 52.

The Defendants required Scott to perform both typical home health caag-esiich as
bathing, grooming, and toileting—and general housekeeping duties, such as meal planning,
vacuuming, doing laundry, running errands, and caring for (S&s.idat 1 5558. The
Defendants typically scheduled aides foftur shifts—which included both home health care
duties and general housekeeping dutiasepaid Scott a wagd $158 for each 24-hour shift.
Seeidat {1 61. For any work she performed outside of her normal duties, Scott would be paid an
hourly rate.See idat  62. Scib routinely worked seven days per week and often worked in
excess of 13 hours per 24-hour shiBee idat § 65. Scott thus consistently worked well over 40
hoursperworkweek. Seed. No matter how many hours she worked, though, Scott was “paid
only straight time pay by way of twenty-four (24) hour shift pay and/or hourly pgdyat  67.

In other words, the Defendants did not pay overtime to any home health careSadadat
68. Scott alleges that the Defendants deprived over 400huihves health care aides in that
way. See idat § 69. Scott explains that she was “never provided with information, either
written or verbal, regarding her eligibility for overtime payd. at  70.

Scott also alleges that the Defendants withheld $10 per day in wages based on the
promise that the Defendants (or their clients) would proaidaily meal of that valudd. at

72. But—even though repeatedly brought to their attentibie-Befendantor their clients)



never provided such mealld. at 1 73-74. Still, the Defendants continued to deduct $10 per
dayfrom herwages.Id. at  75.

Scott thus seeks to represent, pursuant to the Fair Labor Standards Act, aeaitticin
of “[a]ll home health care aides employed by Defendants omafiedthree years from the date
this action is commenced who were not paid overtime for hours worked over forty in a
workweek.” Id. at 77, 86—88see als®9 U.S.C. § 216(b). Scott also seeks to represent
class*‘of employees who were and are employed as home health aides by Defendants from April
7, 2011 through the present day and who were not properly paid overtime pay and/or had
unlawful deductions taken from their wages pursuant to” Connecticut stat&Senidat ] 79,

89-97: Conn. Gen. Stat. §8 31-60, 31-71e.

3. The Caregiver Agreement and the Arbitration Agreement

On May 23, 2016, Scott executed a type of employment continectGaregiver
Agreenent”). The Caregiver Agreement contained an Arbitration Agreement as one of its
subparts. Two people signed and dated the Caregiver Agreement on its last page:otonie Sc
signed under “Caregiver,” and Jessica Howard signed under “Griswold Home Reéerfal
Service” and listed her title as “HR3eeCaregiver AgreemenEx. 1 to Defs.” Mem. of Law
(“Caregiver Agreement;)Doc. No. 15-2, at 6.

The Caregiver Agreement is five pages, single-spaced. It bears the copgoaté |
“Griswold Home Care” o the top left of each page. T8aregiverAgreement begins:

The parties to this Agreement (“Agreement”) are the independently owned and

operated franchise entity licensed to do

business as GRISWOLD HOME CARE, A Referral Seey(“GRISWOLD”), and

the individual Caregiver whose signature appears below (“You”) or collectively,

the “Parties”. The Parties, for the consideration given and received, each intending
to be legally bound, AGREE to the following terms . . . .

Id. at 2. The space following “franchise entity” was left blank. The Agreement continues
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GRISWOLD operates a registry referral service that recruits, thorosghgns,
registers and refers Caregivers who are in the business of providing personal care,
homemakng, companionship and activities of daily living services to Clients
requesting such referrals . . . . You have sought to be listed on GRISWOLD’s
registry of Caregivers available for referral. This Agreement containtetines

under which Your listing othat registry will take place.

Id. The Caregiver Agreement explains that GRISWOLD would merely refer Caretpvers
clients and, as such, a Caregiver is “an independent contractor and not an emptby@--3
(1 49. The Caregiver Agreement contemplates that “You will be paid foicesriay the Client
directly on a fedor-Service basis.’ld. at2 (T 3. TheCaregiverAgreement continues:

If payment for your Services has resulted in billing slips being submitted to an
insurance company or other thipdrty payer by the Client, Youay receive a
Form 1099, which will report to federal, state and local taxing authorities the
amount of income that source paid to You during the year. Some Individual Clients
may also issue You a Form 1099 showing their payments to You. You are
responsite for keeping track of all hours You work and payments You receive
from all Clients.

Id. at3 (1 4. The Caregiver Agreement explains that its “Term . . . shall be for the period of
time You provide Services to Clients referred to You by GRISWOLUR."at3 (1 7). The
Caregiver Agreement also contains an arbitration clause, referred to as theatiarb
Agreement.” The Arbitration Agreement begins:

Any and all disputes, claims or controversies arising out of or relating to this
Agreement, Your Services under this Agreement and any and all other disputes,
claims or controversies by and between You, on the one hand, and GRISWOLD,
its franchisor, and their respective Clients, customers, and vendors (ecelect

the “GRISWOLD PARTIES”), on the other hand, shall be resolved exclusively
through final and binding arbitration (and not by way of a court or jury trial) . . . .

Id. at3 (T 8. The Arbitration Agreement provides that it

shall be governed, construed and enforced pursuant to the Federaltirifct.
However, any claims submitted to arbitration regarding other terms of this
Agreement shall be governed by the law of the State where Services are or were
provided by You.



Id. at3 (T 89. With respect to arbitration itself, the Arbitrationr&gment explains that “all
claims shall be decided by a single neutral arbitrator who shall be a retired jydgiecet” Id.
at4 (1 8d. But if the parties carot agree on that neutral arbitrator adérdays, a party may
apply to a court, which would appoint an arbitrattat. In arbitration, “each party will have the
right to conduct adequate civil discovery to extaid] [permitted under the Federal Rules of
Civil Procedure, bring dispositive motions, and present witnesses and evidence ds ridede
at4 (1 89. The Arbitration Agreement also contains a class action waiver that reads:

In arbitration, there shall be no right or authority for any dispute to be brought,
heard or arbitrated as a class, collective or representative action oclass a
member in any purported class, collective action or representative proceeding.

Id. at4 (T 8f). The Arbitration Agreement also addresses the cost of a potential arbitrati

In arbitration, each party will pay the fees for his, her or its ovanrays, subject

to applicable law and/or any remedies to which that party may later be entitled
under applicable law. However, in all cases where required by applicable law, the
GRISWOLDPARTIESwiIll pay the arbitrator's and arbitration fees. If, however
under applicable law, the GRISWOLD PARTIES are not required to pay all of the
arbitrator’s and/or arbitration fees, such fee(s) will be apportioned betiine
Parties in accordance with said applicable law, and any disputes in that rdgard wi
be resoled by the arbitrator.

Id. at4 (1 80. The Arbitration Agreement also contains an apt-clause:

You may submit a document or email stating that [] You wish to opt out and not be
bound by this Arbitration Agreement . . . . To Opt Out, [] You must submit a
tangible or electronic document containing Your name and current address and
stating words to # effect that “Caregiver wishes to Opt Out of the arbitration

agreement” . . . . To be effective, the Opt Out statement must be sent to the
GRISWOLD PARTIES (at the following address:

or email address , Attention: ) within
30 days after You have signed this Agreement . ... You have the right to consult
with counsel of Your choice concerning this Agreement including this arbitration
agreement.

Id. at5 (T 8)). The spaces for contact information were left blank. The Arbitration Agréeme

concludes:



BY SIGNING THIS AGREEMENT, BOTH GRISWOLD PARTIES AND YOU
WAIVE ANY RIGHTS TO HAVE SUCH DISPUTES TRIED BY A JUDGE OR
JURY, OR TO APPEAL ANY FINDINGS OF THE ARBITRATOR EXCEPT AS
MAY BE VACATED UNDER THE FEDERAL ARBITRATION ACT.

Id. at5 (1 8K. The entire Caregiver Agreement concludes:
Each Party to this Agreement acknowledges and represents that 1) s/helast (a)
fully and carefully read this Agreement prior to signing it; (b) has been, or has had
the opportunity to be, advised by independent legal counsel of his/her or its own
choice as to the legal effect and meaning of each of the terms and conditions of this
Agreement; (c) is entering into this Agreement as a free and voluntary aaitwitho
duress or undue pressure or influence of any kind or nature whatsoever; and (d) has
not relied on any promises, representations or warranties regarding the subject
matter hereof other than as set forth in this Agreement.

Id. at6 (7 19).
4. CKIH—not FMCH—was theGRISWOLD in the Caregiver Agreement

Scott steadfastly maintains thhe Caregiver Agreement has nothing to do with this
case’ Scott arguethatthe party contracting as “GRISWOL@Was CKJH a non-party in this
caserather than FMCH. First, theeld in the Caregiver Agreement defining “GRISWOLD”
was left blank.Scott points out that it wakessicaHoward with whom she met on May 23, 2016
and who signed the Caregiver Agreeme®eeDecl. ofl. Scott, Ex. 1 to Pl.’s Opp’n (“Scott
Decl.”), Doc. No. 21-1, at €. Jessica Howantas botranFMCH employeeand a principal of
CKJH. Scott remarks that on May 23 Jessica Howard “never stated that Cathy 'Hmward
FMCH “was a party to the Caregiver Agreement” and that, in fact, Jesswarti did not
explain anything about the Caregiver Agreemeid."at 3.

Secad, by its termsthe Caregiver Agreemegbverns a relationship between Scott and
an entity—"GRISWOLD”—that “operates a registry referral servicthe Caregiver Agreement

contained the terms governing Scott’s listing on GRISWOLD'’s regiSeeCaregive

7 Scott also argues that the Caregiver Agreement is invalid, but | need nothababument, as discussed below.
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Agreement, Doc. No. 15-2, at &cott argues that her claims in this case do not concern
referrals; instead, the dispute here concerns the period from February 2017 to October 2018
during which the Defendants “employed and paid Plaintiff directBl."'s Opp’n, Doc. No. 21,

at 4. More specifically, Scott explains that since February 2017, she has notreekuals of
the type contemplated by the Caregiver Agreement; has not perfoemeces under the
Caregiver Agreement; and has been paid dyrést the Defendants, rather than by clierBee
Scott Decl.Doc. No. 21-1, aff 6. Indeed, Scott provides evidence that she was paid through
direct deposits from RiRiPays, LLC, which was FMCH'’s third-party payment praceSsed.;
Decl. of M. Malafronte, Ex. 8 to Pl.’s Opp’n, Doc. No. 21-1, at 1 4, 6; Wage Report, Ex. 2 to
Pl.’s Opp’n, Doc. No. 21-lat 6-8.

At first, the Defendants seemed to insist #&liCH was “GRISWOLD” in the Caregiver
Agreement Indeed, in their initial submissions in shinatter, the Defendants put forth the
theory that the Caregiver Agreement was a contract between FMCH and tBabtlgssica
Howard signed the Agreement as an agent of FM@H that Scott subsequently worked for
FMCH as an independent contractbrThe Defendants concludedThere is no record
evidence that Plaintiff was confused in any way as to who she contracted witls.” Roggdly,

Doc. No. 27, at 2. Indeed, the Defendants argued that Scott’'s subsequent working relationship

with the Defendants veafurther proof that Scott knew she was contracting with tHeesd. at

8 See, e.gDefs.” Mem. of Law Doc. No. 151, at 12 (“Under these facts, it is clear that the Plaintiff entered into a
valid and binding arbitration agreement with Defendant&l”)“These claims fall squarely within theape of the
Arbitration Agreement because they relate to Plaintiff's contract with Dafes.”);id. at 4 (“When Defendants
contracted with Plaintiff . . . . ").

9 J. HowardDecl, Doc. No. 271, at T 2 (“| am an employee of Cathy Howard and of FMCH?)inid. at 1 4

(“lonie Scaott signed the ‘Caregiver Agreement’ form . . . in my presence andtecsigned the agreement as part

of my usual business duties.”).

10 SeeDefs.” Mem. of Law Doc. No. 151, at 4 (“The Plaintiff performed homecare servicearamdependent
contractor for the Defendant’s clients.ig); at 6 (“Plaintiff . . . performed services for Defendants as an independent
contractor during the period of approximately January 2017 to October 2018.").
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6 (pointing to Scott’s complaint and noting that “Plaintiff alleges and concedes she d.oracte
Defendants’ behalf, yet now seeks to claim that the parties with which shacteshtre
uncertain”).

But now the Defendants have done an alface: They agrethatCKJH was
“GRISWOLD?” in the Caregiver Agreement and ttia¢ Caregiver Agreement was a contract
between Scott and CKJHAfter | held a hearingn this matter regarding the instant motion
asked the Defendants to submit a supplemental affidavit clarifying the “GRISW@Arty to
the Caregiver Agreement. The Defendants submitted such an affidavit from CathydHow
which explained¢hat CKJH wasGRISWOLD?” in the Caregiver Agreement and that the only
reason CKJH was not “filled in” was due to “a clerical error.” C. Hovga2d Decl., Doc. No.
49, at 1 5. In addition, whereas the Defendants previously explained that Scott worked for
FMCH as anndependent contractétnow they swear that Scott never worked for them and that
FMCH had no relationship with Scott whatsoevBeed. at 6 (“FMCH, Inc. was not the entity
that contracted with lonie Scott. Ms. Scott did not ever provide services through FMCH
fact, FMCH, Inc. is not a referral service, had no relationship with Ms. Scott, and @ichplaty

her, use her services, or pay her.”).

B. Procedural Background

On April 9, 2019, Scott filethis collective and class action complaint against the four
defendants identified abov&eeCompl., Doc. No. 1. Scoseekscertification ofa collective
action under th&LSA, see29 U.S.C. § 216(bandof a class actionnder Fed. R. Civ. P. 23 for

violations ofConnecticut state lavgeeConn. Gen. Stat. 88 31-58&, seq. Scottseeksmoney

11 SeeDefs.” Mem. of Law Doc. No. 151, at 6 (“Plaintiff . . . performed services for Defendants as an independent
contractor during the period of approximately January 2017 to October 2018.")

12



damages and all other appropriate rel@éeCompl., Doc. No. lat 98. Scott alleges three
counts: (1) failure topay overtime in violation of the FLSA and (2) Connecticiattslaw, and
(3) unlawful deduction of wages under Connectitcatedaw. Seed. at 1 86-97.

On June 4, 201%he Defendants madke instant motion to dismiss, or, in the
alternative, to stay and compel arbitratid®eeMot. to Dismiss, Doc. No. 15. The Defendants
seek dismissal based upon the Federal Arbitration Act (“FAA”) and Fed. R. .di2(#(1) and
12(b)(6). In the alternative, the Defendants ask the Court to “strike Plaiotdss and
collective action allegations (pursuant to FRCP 12(f)), compel Plaintiff tvaiebher claims on
an individual basis only (9 U.S.C. § 4), and stay this case pending arbitration (9 U.S.C. § 3),
pursuant to her contractual agreement to do so.” Mot. to Dismiss, Doc. No. 15, at 1.

On July 9, 2019, Scott filed a memorandum in opposition to the Defendants’ motion to
dismiss. SeePl.’s Opp’n, Doc. No. 21. On July 23, the Defendants replied to Scott’s
memorandum in oppositiorSeeDefs.” Reply, Doc. No. 27. On July 30, the parties filed a Rule
26(f) report. SeeRule 26(f) Report, Doc. No. 29. On October 24, Scott gave notice that she had
voluntarily dismissedher complaint as against defendant Malafror@eeNotice,Doc. No. 37.
Later, on November 20, 2019, Scott gave notice that she had also voluntarily didraissed
complaint as againgerks which was erroneously served in this matter, as described above.
SeeNotice, Doc. No. 40.

On November 13, 2019, | held a hearing on the instant motion akd touder
advisement.SeeMin. Entry, Doc. No. 39. At that hearing, | ordered the Defendants to submit a
supplemental affidavit to clarify, if possible, what entigd contracted as “GRISWOLD” in the
Caregiver AgreementSeeHr’g Tr., Doc. No. 45, at 19:24-20:1. On January 29, 2020, | held a

telephonic status conferenicethis matter SeeMin. Entry, Doc. No. 47. On February 14, the
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Defendants filed a supplemental motion to dismiss, which included a supplemedgalitaffi
clarifying the parties to the Caregiver Agreemeg8teDefs.” Supp. Mot. to Dismiss, Doc. No.
49. On March 13, 2020, Scott respond&eePl.’'s Replyto Supp. Mot. to Dismiss, Doc. No.

54.

[1. Discussion

In its motion to dismisghe Defendants do not addré&sott’s claims on the merits and
argue only that her claims are “subject to a valid and enforceable arbitratiemagtevith
Defendants.”Defs.” Mem. of Law Doc. No. 15-1at 3 10-17. After it was clarified that CKJH
was the contracting partg theCaregiver Agreementhe Defendants still argue that they can
compel arbitration under the Arbitration Agreement both as a matter of equiatipee and by
the plain text of thérbitration Agreement.SeeDefs.’ Supp. Mot. to Dismiss, Doc. No. 4
response, Scott argues that the Defendants cannot enforce the Arbitration Agesgimestther
because the Agreement is not between Scott and the Defen8apB.’s Opp’n, Doc. No. 21,
at 4-5. Further, Scott explains that the Defendants cannotoertfoe Arbitration Agreement
against her as a matter of equitable estoppel or by the Agreement’s plaifdeRkt.’'s Reply to
Supp. Mot. to Dismiss, Doc. No. 54t 4-9. Scott makes several other arguments in the
alternativeregarding both the Arbitration Agreement’s invalidity and, even if it were valid, why

this case does not fall within its scolel need not consider amf Scott’s alternative arguments

2 For instance, Scott argues thiae Arbitration Agreement is either invalid or inapplicabledlbthe following
reasons. (1) There is a blank space where the Arbitration Agreement should aamttedhioformation for opting
out. SeeCaregiver Agreement, Doc. No.-25at5 (T 8)); Pl.’'s Opp’n, Doc. No. 21, at 387. (2) The Caregiver
Agreemenexpired. SeePl.’s Opp’n, Doc. No. 21, at +18. (3) Scott’s claims are outside the scope of the
Arbitration Agreement, even if applicabl&eeid. at 26-22. (4) The Arbitration Agreement specifically exempts
Scott’s claims.Seed. at 22-24. (5) Tre Arbitration Agreement is both procedurally and substantively
unconscionableSee idat 24-27.
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because | agree that there was no agreement to arbitrate betwBefetigants and Scott and

that the Defendants cannot enforce the Arbitration Agreement against Scott.

A. The FAA's test for Arbitrability

Where an arbitration provision is in a “contract evidencing a transaction involving
commerce,” federal rather than stéw is controlling as to its validitySeed U.S.C. 88§ 1-2;
Fromer v. Comcast Corp886 F. Supp. 2d 106, 109 (D. Conn. 201Phe Caregiver Agreement
clearly evidences a transaction involving interstate commerce. Scott exphtitise
Defendants engaged in commerce, that their employees travelled among at leastrklew Y
Connecticut, and Pennsylvania, and that their businesses used interstate wiresttoicat@m
Compl., Doc. No. 1, at 11 23-25, 36-38urther, the Arbitration Agreement itself explains that
it “shall be governed, construed and enforced pursuant to” the FAA. Caregiver Agreeaeent, D
No. 15-2, at 3] 89.

The FAA “creates a body of federal substantive law of arbitrability, applicalaleyt
arbitration agreement within the coage of the Act.”Deleon 2017 WL 396535, at *2 (internal
guotation marks omitted) (citing re Am. Express Fin. Advisors Sec. Litgj72 F.3d 113, 127
(2d Cir. 2011)). Under the FAA, arbitration agreements “shall be valid, irrevocable, and
enforceablesave upon grounds as exist in law or in equity for the revocation of any contract.” 9
U.S.C. 8§ 2. There is a strong federal policy favoring arbitration, such that “any doubts
concerning the scope of arbitrable issues should be resolved in favor of arbitritmses H.

Cone Memorial Hosp. v. Mercury Constr. Co60 U.S. 1, 24-25 (1983poscher v. Sea Port

Grp. Sec, LLC, 832 F.3d 372, 385 (2d Cir. 2016). However, it is the court’s role to determine
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whether a particular action should be sent bitation® In that determination, a court must

conduct the following four inquiries:
First, it must determine whether the parties agreed to arbitrate; second, it must
determine the scope of that agreement; third, if federal statutory claims atechsse
it must consider whether Congress intended those claims to be nonarbitrable; and
fourth, if the court concludes that some, but not all, of the claims in the case are
arbitrable, it must then decide whether to stay the balance of the proceedings
pending dbitration.

JLM Indus. v. Stolt-Nielson $B887 F.3d 163, 169 (2d Cir. 200@&)terations omittedsee also

In re Am. Express 672 F.3d at 128 (describing the test as only the first two inquiries identified in

JLM Indus).

B. The Defendants Cannot Compel Scott to Arbitrate Pursuant to the Arbitration Amteem

1. FMCH and Scott did not Agree to Arbitrate.

“[lln evaluating whether thparties have entered[ia] a valid arbitration agreement, the
court must look to state law principlesDeleon 2017 WL 396535, at *2 (quotin@ap Gemini
Ernst & Young, U.S., LLC v. Nack&l6 F.3d 360, 364 (2d Cir. 2003)). The parties here agree
that Connecticut law governs the instant disp&eeDefs.” Mem. of Law, Doc. No. 15-1, at 10;
Pl.’s Opp’n, Doc. No. 21, at 10. Under Connecticut law, a meeting of the minds is necessary for
contract formation.Deleon 2017 WL 396535, at *&5ibbs v. Conn. Gen. Life In4998 WL
123010, at *2 (Conn. Super. Ct. Mar. 3, 1998). No contract exists when “there has been a
misunderstanding between the parties, or a misapprehension by one or both so that their minds
have never met.’Gibbs 1998 WL 123010, at *2 (internal quotation marks and citations

omitted). To form a contract, “the identities of the parties mustdsonablycertain.” Saint

13 The Defendants point out that arbitration clauses are severable from traetsothiat contain thenBeeDefs.’
Reply, Doc. No. 27, at% (citing, inter alia, Buckeye Check Cashing, Inc. v. Carded¥6 U.S. 440, 44516
(2006)). That is true, but it is not material in this case: When a party claims fidatdt @nter into an arbitration
clause, it is the role of the court to determine “whether #négs agreed to arbitrateSee, e.gAbdullayeva v.
Attending Homecare Services L1928 F.3d 218, 2222 (2d Cir. 2019) (citing th&LM Indus.standard).
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Bernard Sch. of Montuville, Inc. v. Bank of ABL2 Conn. 811, 832 (2014) (citittpbysz v.
DiPietro, 185 Conn. 47, 51 (198 (internal quotation marks omitted)).

Althoughwhether the Defendants and Scott contracted in the Caregiver Agregasent
at the beginning of this litigation, a fraught and complicated issue, it is not noeve Was no
meeting of the minds between the Defendants and Scott in the Caregiver AgreRexit that
the Caregiver Agreement contained a blank space wheleutd have identified the franchise
entity—"GRISWOLD”—with whom Scott was contractingseeCaregiver Agreement, Doc. No.
15-2, at 2. lwas not reasonably certaiin fact, far from it—that*“GRISWOLD” was either
FMCH or Cathy Howard.

Theevolution ofthe Defendants’ submissions alone indicates that there was no meeting
of the minds between Scott and the Defendants in the Caregiver Agreexhérgt, the
Defendants were certain tHa1CH was“"GRISWOLD.” They even argued that Scott’s work
for FMCH in 2017 and 201@ade that conclusion more certalow, the Defendants are
certain thaCKJHwas “GRISWOLD.” Moreover, the Defendants now represbat Scott
neverhad any relationshigith FMCH whatsoever.SeeC. Howard’s 2d Decl., Doc. No. 49, at
6 (“FMCH, Inc. was not the entity that contracted with lonie Scott. Ms. Scott dideot e
provide services through FMCH, Inc. In fact, FMCH, Inc. is not a referralcggivad no
relationship with Ms. Scott, and did not employ her, use her services, or pay Geveh all
that, Scott’s positior-that she was not reasonably certain about with whom she was contracting
on May 23, 2016—-clearly has support in the record. In sum, the Defendants have failed to

demongtate that they entered into an enforceable agreement to arbitrate with Scott
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2. The Defendants Cannot Enforce the Arbitration Agreement Against Scott.

Even though the Defendants now concede that CKJH was “GRISWOLD” in the
Caregiver Agreement, they stiligue that they can enforce the Arbitration Agreement against
Scott (1) as a matter of equitable estoppel and (2) by the Arbitration Agreepiamt’anguage.
Both arguments fail. Relatedly, even though the Defendants do not raise it directlain expl
why (3) the Defendants may not compel Scott to arbitrate as aghitgl beneficiary of the

Caregiver Agreement.

a. Equitable Estoppel

A non-signatory to an arbitration agreemehb attempts to compel signatory to that
agreement to arbitratinder a thexy of equitable estoppehust demonstrate that
(1) the issues the nonsignatory is seeking to resolve in arbitration are intertwined
with the agreement that the estopped party has sigmed(2) the relationship
among the parties . . . justifies a conclusion that the party which agreed to arbitrate
with another entity should be estopped from denying an obligation to arbitrate a
similar dispute with the adversary which is not a party to the arbitration agreement.
Medidata Sols., Inc. v. Veeva Sys., |id8 F. App’x 363, 366 (2018¢i{ing Ragone v. Atl.
Video at Manhattan Cty595 F.3d 115, 126 (2d Cir. 2010) (internal quotation marks onjitted)
With respect to the “intertwined” inquiryjtlhe degree of interrelatedness necessary to
allow a non-signatory to compel arbitration is extremely fact dependBatger v. NIA Grp.,
LLC, 2009 WL 10689079, at *5 (D. Conn. Sept. 8, 20@8jng Carroll v. Leboeuf, Lamb,
Greene & MacRae, L.L.P374 F. Supp. 2d 375, 379 (S.D.N.Y. 2005) (internal quotation marks
omitted). More specifically, “the court must determine . . . whether the signatory’s clesas a
under the ‘subject matter’ of the underlying agreemelnt.fe Currency Conversion Fee

Antitrust Litig., 265 F. Supp. 2d 385, 402 (S.D.N.Y. 2003pe alscStechler v. Sidley, Austin

Brown & Wood, L.L.B.382 F. Supp. 2d 580, 591-92 (S.D.N.Y. 2005) (declining to find
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“intertwined-ness” when the signatory’s claims against non-signatory dithrisfe] out of,”
were not “integrally related to,” and did not “make reference to or presume the existéthe
underlying contract). Some courts have even gone so far as to s4tjtibailaintiff's actual
dependence on the underlying contract in making out the claim against the nonsignatory
defendant is . . . always tk@e qua norof an appropriate situation for applying equitable
estoppel.”In re Humana Inc. Managed Care Litj@85 F.3d 971, 976 (11th Cir. 2008y’d on
other groundsPacifiCare Health Sys. v. Bopk38 U.S. 401 (2003)ee alsoNojcik v. Midland
Credit Mgmt., Inc.2019 WL 3423567, at *6 (E.D.N.Y. July 30, 2019) (citinge Humana
285 F.3d at 974.enox MacLaren Surgical Corp. v. Medtronic, 49 F. App’x 704, 709
(10th Cir. 2011)) Massen v. Cliff2003 WL 2012404, at *4 (S.D.N.Y. May 1, 2003) (declining
to allow nonsignatory to compel signatory to arbitration when, even if the underlying contract
“were found to be invalid or unenforceable, it would not affect plaintiff's right to reover

With respect tahe “close relationship” inquiry, Judge Leval undertook an analysfseof
Second Circuit'selevant precedents and offertd@ following analysis regarding the
circumstances that must be present to allow a nonsignatory to compel a signatory to an
arbitration agreement to arbitrate

In each case, the promise to arbitratexbyhe entity opposing arbitration, was

reasonably seen on the basfishe relationships among the parties as extending not

only toy, its contractual counterparty, but alsoytpan entity that was, or would

predictably become, witk's knowledge and consent, affiliated or associated with

y in such a manner as to makeunfair to allowx to avoid its commitment to

arbitrate on the ground thgtwas not the very entity with whichhad a contract.

The estoppel did not flow merely froxis agreement to arbitrate witomeondy)

in disputes relating to the agreement. It flowed rather from the conclusion that the

relationships among the parties developed in a manner that made it unkaio for
claim that its agreement to arbitrate ran only &md not to/.
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Sokol Holdings, Inc. v. BMB Munai, In&42 F.3d 354, 361 (2d Cir. 2008).(In this case, Scott
is x, CKJH isy, and the Defendants (really, FMCafey.) A “close corporate and operational
relationship” betweeg andy* does not necessarily satisfy the “close relationship” inqubge
id. at 362. Instead something more is normaligquired For examplesomecourts that have
compelled arbitration in similar circumstances notedtihadtreatedy” in some way as a party
to the underlying contractSee, e.gJLM Indus, 387 F.3d at 177-7&stra Oil Co., Inc.v.
Rover Navigation, Ltd344 F.3d 276, 281 (2d Cir. 2003). Other courts that have compelled
arbitration in similar circumstance®int out that the dispute betweeandy! is “essentially an
aspect of the [] controversy” betwerandy. SeeChoctow Generation Ltd. P’ship v. Arlome
Assur. Ca.271 F.3d 403, 408 (2d Cir. 2001).

The Defendants argue that they may compel arbitration under the Caregiver Agreement
because Scott’'s complaint alleges that “all the defendants” vidiatedights under the FLSA
and analogous Connecticut state leseeDefs.” SuppMot. to Dismiss Doc. No. 49, at 2-3.
The Defendants thesircularly conclude: “Thus, based on the allegations in the Complaint, the
issues between plaintiff and defendant FMC[H], and the issues betweenfaittifefendant
Cathy Howard are clearly ‘intertwidewith the Caregiver Agreement with C[KJ]H under which
plaintiff performed home health aide servicelI” at 3. Scott responds that her allegations do
not involve in any wayhe Caregiver Agreemenwhichgovernsa relationship in which Scott
worked as an independent contractor for a referral serieePl.’s Reply to Supp. Mot. to
Dismiss, Doc. No. 54t 5 Caregiver Agreement, Doc. No. 15-2, at 2 (“This Agreat

contains the terms under which Your listing on [GRISWOLD's registry of Canegaxailable

4 Judge Leval examined the following casé&M Indus. v. StoiNielson SA387 F.3d 163 (2d Cir. 2004Astra

Oil Co., Inc.v. Rover Navigation, Ltd344 F.3d 276 (2d Cir. 2003FhoctowGeneration Ltd. P’ship v. Antlome
Assur. Ca.271 F.3d 403 (2d Cir. 20013mith/Enron Cogeneration Ltd. P’ship, Inc. v. Smith Cogeneration Int'l,
Inc., 198 F.3d 88 (2d Cir. 1999).
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for referral] will take place.”) Scottexplains that, in this casghe sues the Defendants because

they “were her joint employers, determined her specifidkvassignments and hours of

operation, assigned her to a fixed work schedule, required her approval in advance of any change
to their schedule and required her to address to [them] any concerns, complaint issoéser
concerning the provision of sereis.” Pl.’'s Reply to Supp. Mot. to Dismiss, Doc. No. 54, at 5.

In contrast, Scott’s claims explicitly dmt“ar[i]se pursuant to the type of referral arrangement
contemplated in the” Caregiver Agreemelt. at 6.

Scott has the better of the argument. Regarding the “intertwined-ness” inkeiry,
Defendantdhiave not shown th&cott’s claims in this case have anything at all to do with the
Caregiver AgreementBecause Scott does not rely on the Caregiver Agreeaséme basis for
her claims against the Defendants, there is no equitable ragdhe Defendantshay compel
Scott to arbitrate under the Caregiver Agreementesbop Scott from bringing suit. Scott’s
claimsagainst the Defendants afieect employment claims based on the FLSA and analogous
Connecticut state law. Scott alleges that the Defendants employed and paid Her @esct
Compl., Doc. No. 1, atf|f 44-48 Wage Report, Ex. 2 to Pl.’s Opp’n, Doc. No. 21-1, at 6H3e
Defendants concede that FMCH wat a referral serviceSeeC. Howards 2d Decl, Doc. No.

49, at] 6 Theyalso—in their mostrecent submissidfi—contest whether they ever had any
relationship with Scott whatsoeve®ee id. The Defendants may or may not be correct about
their relationship with ScattBut their argument—and the affidavit supporting dsmpletely

undermines theiposition that the Caregiver Agreement is intertwined with this lawsuit. If

15 By their own admission, the Defendants also have never relied on the CaregiveréxgréseC. Howard's 2d
Decl., Doc. No. 49, at  6Thus, under Connecticut lathe Defendants cannot claim @spel. See, e.gSoares v.
Max Servs., Ing42 Conn. App. 147, 170 (1996) (“Estoppel requires [1] proof of misleading conduct byrgne pa
[2] resulting in detrimental reliand®y the one claiming estoppel.”).

16 Of course, that is only their most et position As discussed above, in their opening briefing Dbéendants
argued that Scott worked for them as an independent contractor.
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FMCH never had any relationship with Scott, then maybe Scott’s lawsuit againsi RMC
fail. But that lack of relationship counsalgainstallowing FMCH to compel Scott to
arhtration.

Relatedly the record does not support the assertion that Scott knew or expected that her
obligations under the Caregiver Agreement would extend to FMCH. Admittedly, FMCH and
CKJH overlap in the fictitious namesmanagement structureand employee poalCathy
Howard is a principal of both, and Jessica Howard is a principal of CKJH and an employee of
FMCH. However, as alreadyiscussed, the Caregiver Agreement governs a relationship
between Scott andraferral service for whom Scott would be acting as an independent
contractor. Scott claims in this case that FMCH employed and padtireetly. The
Defendants themselves repeatedly emphasize that vital difference between FMCkUEind C
See, e.9.C. Howards 2d Decl., Doc. No. 49, atZ[(“During some of the times relevant to this
case, lonie Scott received referrals for homecare services from CKJH; iehcat 7 6 (“Ms.

Scott did not ever provide services through FMCH, Inc. In fact, FMCH, Inc. is notealefe
service, had no relanship with Ms. Scott, and did not employ her, use her services, or pay
her.”). Itis far fromclear that Scott understood that her obligations under the Caregiver
Agreement would extend to a direct employment relationsitlpa different entity

In sum, there is no equitable reason that | should eStat from attempting to avoid
arbitrationwith the Defendants. Scott does not rely on the Caregiver Agreement as the basis for
her claims in this caseAccording toScott she worked for the Defendants, who underpaid her in
violation of federal and state employméaw. Indeed, Scott submits evidence that the

Defendants’ thirdparty processor paid her directly. According to the Defendants, Scott had

17 Cathy Howard's status as a defenddmbugh,is plainly based on her role as principal of FMCH.
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absolutely no relationship with them. Discovery will (hopefully) explain the relatipnshi

between Scott and the Defendants. But the Defendants cannot claim that, on one hand, they had
no relationship with Scott whatsoever, and, on the other hand, that their relationship with Scot
was foreseeable enough in the Caregiver Agreement that Scott should be forcechte aritiitr

them under that Agreement. Put simply, the Defendants take contradictory pakdions

undercut their argument that Scott should be bound by the Caregiver Agreement even if she did

not enter into that agreement with them

b. Plain Language

The Defendants also argue that, even though they are natwign to the Caregiver
Agreement, they can compel Scott to arbitration under the plain language of trethAgte
The Defendants point to the first paragraph of the Arbitration Agreement, whash rea

Any and all disputes, claims or controversassing out of or relating to this

Agreement,Your Services under this Agreement and any and all other disputes,

claims or controversies by and between You, on the one hand, and GRISWOLD,

its franchisor, and their respective Clients, customers, and venddextfgely,

the “GRISWOLD PARTIES”), on the other hand, shall be resolved exclusively

through final and binding arbitration (and not by way of a court or jury trial) as

follows . . ..
SeeCaregiver Agreement, Doc. No. 15-2, af{3(. The Defendants elgn: “Because both
FMCH and CKJH were doing business as Griswold Home Care, both FMCH and CKJH are
entitled by the terms of the Caregiver Agreement to enforce it.” Defs.” Supp. MasnusB,
Doc. No. 49, at 3-4.

Scott responds that the Defendantsimcerrect because “GRISWOLD?” is a defined term
within the Caregiver Agreement. Recall thad Caregiver Agreement begins:

The parties to this Agreement (“Agreement”) are the independently owned and

operated franchise entity licensed to do
business as GRISWOLD HOME CARE, A Referral Service, (“GRISWOLD”), and
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the individual Caregiver whose signature appears below (“You”) or collectively,
the “Parties”.

SeeCaregiver Agreement, Doc. No. 15-2, atThus, “GRISWOLD” in the Ceegiver
Agreement refers tosinglefranchise entity.As the Defendants now concede, CKJH was
intended to fill in the blank space following “franchise entigntd so CKJH was “GRISWOLD”
in theCaregiver AgreementSeeDefs’ Supp. Mot. to Dismiss, Doc. No. 49, at 3—4. Scott
argues, then, th4GRISWOLD” cannot also be FMCH. Scott concludésising Defendants’
logic, any entity doing business as Griswold Home Care would be included within theiarbitrat
agreement.”Pl.’s Reply to Supp. Mot. to Dismiss, Doc. No. 54, at 8.

Again, Scott has the better of the arguméntthe Caregiver AgreemefiGRISWOLD’
is a defined ternthat refers to a single franchise entiyd the Defendants now concede that it
refers toCKJH. Thus, it would be simply illogical to conclude that “GRISWOL&I%0 refers to
FMCH. Adopting the Defendants’ positionthat FMCH is “GRISWOLD” because it does
business as “Griswold Home Careivould also lead to an absurd result: all franchisees doing
business as “Griswold Home Care” would have a right to co®gm#t to arbitration. There are
over 150 franchisees of Griswold Home Care across the country doing business under the
fictitious name “Griswold Home Care,” including about 17 in Pennsylvania afoheaddition,
the Defendants are not included in the “GRISWOLD PARTIES” referrauttee Arbitration
Agreement because thare neither CKJH’s franchisor nor clients, customers, or verafor
CKJH or its franchisor. The Defendants find no help in the plain language of the Caregiver

Agreement and the Arbitration Agreement.

18 SeeBus Entities, Ex. A taDecl. of G. Hawkins in Support d&erks’s Mot. to Dismiss, Doc. No. 38 at 4-10.
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c. Third-Party Beneficiary

Although the parties do not argue the issue, | note that the Defendants also cannot compel
arbitration in this case as a thiparty beneficiaryunder the Caregiver Agreementnder
Connecticut law, a “third party beneficiary may enforce a contractual obligaithout being in
privity with the actual parties to the contractWVykeham Rise, LLC v. Feder805 Conn. 448,

473 (2012) (quotingVilcox v. Webster Ins., In294 Conn. 206, 217 (2009)). In determining
whether a person has a right of action as a-partly beneficiary, “the ultimate test . . . is
whether the intent of the parties to the contract was that the promisor should astitece
obligation to the third party.’ld. at 474 see also Filloramo v. NewAlliance Inykic. 2007 WL
1206736, at *3 (D. Conn. Apr. 23, 2007) (quotkigapp v. New Haven Rd. Constr. Ctb0

Conn. 321, 325 (1963)). “[T]hat intent is to be determined from the terms of the contract read in
the light of the circumstances attending its making, including the motives and purposes of the
parties” Wykeham Ris&05 Conn. at 474—7%i{ing Dow & Condon, Inc. v. Brookfield Dev.
Corp, 266 Conn. 572, 580 (200@nternal quotation marks omitté¢¥see alsd-illoramo, 2007

WL 1206736, at *3 (citind@arnard v. Barnard214 Conn. 99, 110 (1990))Where the

language of the contract is clear and unambiguous, the contract is to be given effeai@oaor

its terms.” Filloramo, 2007 WL 1206736, at *X{ting Montoya v. Montoya280 Conn. 605,

612 (2006)).

The Caregiver Agreemestplain language indicates thhée partieslid not intendor
Scott to assume any direct obligation to the Defenddlttat is because FMCH is nowhere
explicitly or by implication referenced in the Agreement. As noted aboveatties to the
Caregiver Agreement were Scott &&RISWOLD,” whichwas intended to bEKJH. The
parties to the Arbitration Agreement, again, were Scott, and the “"GRISW@RIIES,” who

were CKJH, “its franchisor, and their respective Clients, customedsyendors.” Caregiver
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Agreement, Doc. No. 15-2, at 8 . Because the Defendants are none of those entities, they
are not a party to the Caregiver Agreement or Arbitration Agreenkemther, the Caregiver
Agreement regarded the terms of Scott's\gdisted on CKJH’s “registrgf Caregivers

available for referral.”See idat 2. ButFMCH “is not a referral service.” C. Howard's 2d
Decl., Doc. No. 49, at 1 &Nor is there reason to believeand the Defendants do not advance
the argument-thatScottknew in May 2016 (or at any time) about the overlap in personnel
between FMCH and CKJH. For all those reasons, the Defendants cannot contipiel Sc
arbitration pursuant to the Caregiver Agreement on the grounds that they are third-party

beneficiaries othat Agreement.

C. Scott's Claims are Plausible

Even though they apparenigekto dismiss Scott’s claims for failure to state a claime,
Defendants do not mount such an argument and, instead, focus exclusively on whether they can
compel Scott to arbitran. In any case, | note that Scott’s claims are plausiBlersuant to the
FLSA, covered employees are entitled to pay of at least 150 percent of their normal lagerly w
for all hours worked in excess of 40 hours per workwete?9 U.S.C. § 207(a)j1 The same
is true under Connecticut state la®eeConn. Gen. Stat. § 31-76¢c. And, under Connecticut law,
an employer may withhold wages only untienited circumstancesSeeConn. Gen. Stat. § 31-
71le.

Scott claims that the Defendants employed her between February 2017 and December
2018. SeeCompl., Doc. No. 1, at 1 4. During that time, Scott claims that she “consistently
worked well over” 40 hours per workweek but, still, was paid no overtime w&gssidat
64, 67—68. In addition, Scott alleges that the Defendants withheld $10 per day in wages based on

the promise that the Defendants (or their clients) would provide a daily meal ofltreat ida at
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1 72. But—even though repeatedly brought to their attention—the Defelfdatttsir clents)
never provided such meals and continued to deduct $10 per day in Whgd|{ 73-75.

The Defendants make no argument about why Scott’s allegations do not state a claim on
the merits. Instead, the Defendants simply contest the fact that they evay tkaableof
employment (or other) relationship with ScoleeC. Howards 2d Decl., Doc. No. 49, at | 6.
However, at the motion to dismiss stage, | must take Scott’s allegations as trugthdhus
Defendants mount no argument on their motion to dismiss pursuant to Fed. R. Civ. P. 12(b)(6),
and | see no independent reason why Scott’s claims are not plaibli has stated a claim

upon which relief can be granted.

IV. Conclusion
For the foregoing reasons, the Defendants’ motion to dismiss, or, in the alternative, to

stay and compel arbitration, doc. no. iExjenied.

So ordered.
Dated at Bridgeport, Connecticut, this 26th day of May 2020.
/s STEFAN R. UNDERHILL

Stefan R. Underhill
United States District Judge
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